FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAR 30 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By *[Signature]*
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DONN A. DUNCAN,)
)
 Appellant,)
)
 vs.)
)
 STATE OF FLORIDA,)
)
 Appellee.)
 _____)

CASE NO. 78,630

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY
FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

MICHAEL S. BECKER
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
112- A Orange Avenue
Daytona Beach, Florida 32114
(904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 17, 1991, the Grand Jury in and for Orange County returned an Indictment charging Appellant with one count of first degree premeditated murder, in violation of Section 782.04 (1)(a)1, Florida Statutes (1991) and one count of aggravated assault, in violation of Section 784.021 (1)(a), Florida Statutes (1991). Numerous pre-trial motions were filed directed to the legality of the imposition of the death penalty. (R 1089-1148) These motions were disposed of by a pre-trial hearing conducted May 9, 1991. (R 829-873)

Appellant proceeded to jury trial on the charges on May 20 - 23, 1991, with the Honorable Daniel P. Dawson, Circuit Judge, presiding. (R 1-828) Following deliberations, the jury returned verdicts finding Appellant guilty as charged as to both

counts. (R 820, 1251-1252)

On July 1, 1991, the penalty phase of Appellant's trial was conducted. (R 374-1052) Defense counsel requested thirty (30) special jury instructions, only one of which was granted and given by the trial judge. (R 966-993, 1282-1305) Following deliberations, the jury returned an advisory verdict recommending that Appellant be sentenced to death by a vote of 12-0. (R 1047, 1317) Both defense counsel and the prosecutor filed memorandums in support of the proper sentence to be imposed. (R 1319-1322, 1327-1330, 1331-1339)

On August 30, 1991, Appellant again appeared before Judge Dawson. (R 1054-1060) Appellant was adjudicated guilty of both offenses and sentenced to three and one half years in prison for the aggravated assault conviction. (R 1057) With regard to the first degree murder conviction, Judge Dawson sentenced Appellant to death, finding one aggravating circumstance and fifteen mitigating circumstances. (R 1060, 1340-1345, 1346-1348)

Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal on September 9, 1991. (R 1351) Appellant was adjudged insolvent and the office of the Public Defender was appointed to represent him on appeal. (R 1350)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In December of 1990, Appellant lived with his fiancée, Deborah Bauer, her mother, Antoinette Blakely, and her daughter, Carrieanne Bauer. (R 517-518, 576) On the evening of December 28, 1990, Debbie Bauer went over to a friend's house at around 6:30 p.m. (R 577, 519) Appellant was in the bedroom, asleep, when Debbie left. (R 577, 520) Carrieanne and Antoinette were watching television. (R 519, 578) Appellant awoke and came into the living room and asked where Debbie was. (R 520, 578) Carrieanne told Appellant 'chat she had gone to a friend's house to which Appellant replied, "Oh yeah, that's right." (R 520-521, 578) Appellant then left the house and returned in approximately one-half hour. (R 521-522, 578) Appellant left the house again saying, "I'll be back in a little while." (R 579) Approximately one hour later and told Antoinette and Carrieanne that Debbie wouldn't be home until later because she had gone off with a guy named Little Mark who was going to buy her beer, since Appellant had refused to do so. (R 522, 579) Appellant also told them that he did not want Debbie to sleep in the bedroom because he didn't want any argument and that he would be leaving in the morning. (R 579, 523)

Debbie Bauer arrived home at approximately 10:30 p.m. (R 523, 582) Antoinette told Debbie that Appellant was angry and didn't want to be bothered. (R 582) Debbie went into the bedroom only for three or four minutes when she went to get some

cigarettes. (R 525, 5) Neither Antoinette nor Carrieanne heard any arguing or fighting between Appellant and Debbie. (R 563, 526) Debbie slept on the couch in the living room. (R 525, 564)

The next morning, Antoinette awoke first and went into the kitchen. (R 586) Carrieanne awoke about 6:45 a.m. (R 527) Debbie then got up and went outside to smoke a cigarette. (R 527, 586) Although Carrieanne thought that her mother was drunk the night before, Debbie did not act drunk that morning. (R 528) At some point, Appellant came out of the bedroom fully dressed and went into the kitchen where he and Antoinette got into an argument. (R 529, 586) Appellant went back into the bedroom and put on a jacket and returned to the living room. (R 531) Appellant walked out the door onto the porch where Debbie was sitting, smoking her cigarette. (R 533)

Richard Ferguson, a neighbor, was standing outside the fence in front of Debbie's house, waiting for a ride. (R 713) He saw Debbie sitting on the porch, smoking her cigarette. (R 714) Ferguson observed Appellant come out the front door and stand behind Debbie looking down at her for two to three seconds. (R 715) Debbie said nothing and appeared to be unaware of Appellant's presence. (R 716) After a few seconds, Appellant appeared to punch Debbie in the back two times. (R 716) Then Appellant put his left hand on Debbie's shoulders, around her neck, and pulled her back. (R 717) At the same time, Appellant swung his right leg over her as if he was mounting a horse. (R

717) Appellant continued to punch Debbie four to six times, real fast, in her upper torso. (R 717) Debbie started to scream, which caused Carrieanne to come out of the front door. (R 534, 717) Carrieanne also thought that Appellant was punching her mother. (R 534) However, Carrieanne soon realized that Appellant was stabbing Debbie and she started screaming. (R 717, 536)

Appellant then came towards Carrieanne with knife in hand and said, "You little bitch, you want it too?" (R 537, 590) Carrieanne's eyes bulged and she screamed. (R 718) Carrieanne was scared that Appellant would kill her so she ran into the closet in the house. (R 537) Upon hearing the commotion, Antoinette grabbed two knives from the kitchen and started to go outside. (R 590) However, she discarded the knives. (R 590) Antoinette then yelled to Richard Ferguson to call 911 because Appellant had stabbed Debbie. (R 720, 595) Appellant said, "I hope you die bitch," Then he said, "Yeah, I did it on purpose. I'll sit here and wait for the cops." (R 540) Appellant then walked out to the gate where he waited until the police arrived. (R 540, 591)

When the police arrived, the deputies approached Appellant, who told them, "I stabbed her.!" (R 633, 617) Appellant was then patted down and placed in the police vehicle. (R 617) Appellant was very cooperative and posed no problem. (R 618) Although Appellant appeared that he had been awake for quite a while, the officers observed no evidence of intoxication.

(R 640-641, 619) After being advised of s Miranda warnings, Appellant indicated that he wished to give a statement without the presence of an attorney and told the police that he and Debbie had argued and that he came outside and remembered stabbing her two times. (R 636)

William Anderson, the medical examiner and forensic pathologist, conducted an autopsy on Debbie Bauer. (R 652-655) Debbie had been pronounced dead at the emergency room at the Orlando Regional Medical Center at 9:41 a.m. (R 656) The cause of death was the stab wound to the right chest. (R 683) Additionally, Debbie suffered two life threatening wounds to the flank of her Sack. (R 683) Debbie also suffered three defensive wounds, one on each of her arms, and one on her leg. (R 661) The hospital records indicated that upon admission, Debbie Bauer was intoxicated but alert. (R 688) Her blood alcohol level at the time of her admission into the hospital was .143. (R 685) If the last time she had consumed alcohol was the evening before, she must have been quite intoxicated with a blood alcohol level of at least .250. (R 689)

PENALTY PHASE:

In 1969, while an inmate at the Florida Correctional Institution at Lowell, Florida, Appellant took a bush axe and severely cut the face and head of a fellow inmate, one Willie Fred Davis. (R 889, 893, 895) Appellant was arrested for the crime and when he was interviewed by the police, he told them that he had been threatened by the inmate Davis, the night before

when he had approached him and made a comment to the effect "White Cracker., I'm going to get you." (R 895) The next day, Appellant went to maintenance and got a bush axe and then went to the bathroom where Davis always went at noon time. (R 895) Appellant hit Davis three times with the bush axe in the head, threw down the bush axe, went to the prison guards and told them that he had just killed someone. (R 896) Appellant told a fellow inmate, "Let that be a lesson to everybody, you can only push a man so far and that's what happens to you." (R 897) At the time of this offense, Appellant was twenty-three years of age, five foot nine inches tall and weighed 145 pounds. (R 905) Willie Davis was a very large man, six foot tall and over 250 pounds. (R 905) Willie Davis was known to be a bully in the prison and had problems with many inmates. (R 905, 919) Although Appellant was indicted for the first degree murder of Willie Davis, he was permitted to plead to second degree murder and received a life sentence. (R 917) Appellant was released on parole in 1978 and was discharged successfully from parole in 1984. (R 956)

Sarah Martin has known Appellant for twenty-five years and dated him for a time, during which time they discussed marriage. (R 930-931) Appellant was a hard worker and very conscientious. (R 931) When Sarah Martin got arrested for drugs and was in and out of treatment centers, Appellant was always there for her and **was** very supportive. (R 932) Appellant told her that he knew he had a drinking problem. (R 932)

Una Liebig, Appellant's older sister testified regarding their upbringing. (R 935) Appellant's parents were missionaries and preachers. (R 936) Appellant's biological father went into the service, but when he came out he just one day, without warning, left his family. (R 936) This had a very traumatic effect on the entire family, including Appellant who was only two years old at the time. (R 937) When Appellant was nine years old, his mother remarried a man who was twenty-five years older than she was. (R 937-938) Within three months of the marriage, Appellant's mother developed spinal meningitis which cause paralysis in the left side of her brain. (R 939) Although Appellant's mother could take care of herself, her ability to reason was severely damaged. (R 939) Appellant's step father did not like having children around and the children did not feel welcome in their home. (R 944-945) In the house where they lived, Appellant and his older sister were forced to share a room and a bed. (R 941) The step father mentally abused his children and made them feel like low life. (R 946) Appellant never really had a loving home life. (R 948) Appellant had a young son who died of pneumonia when he was only one month old. (R 950, Exhibit 5) Appellant also had a previous relationship with a Joyce Wells. (R 953) Appellant and Miss Wells were extremely happy but the relationship ended when Joyce Wells was killed in a head-on automobile accident. (R 953) Appellant has an alcohol problem and gets mean when he drinks. (R 956) Although Appellant's Grandmother loved him, she did not

really have time for him. (R 958)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Point I Mr. Duncan's sentence of death violates the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments and Florida law because it is a disproportionate sentence in comparison with other similar cases. The trial court found one aggravating circumstance and fifteen mitigating circumstances. This Court has never affirmed a death sentence based solely on the finding of the aggravator present in this case. No intent-laden aggravation was proved, like cold, calculated or premeditated or heinous, atrocious and cruel. Thus, this case presents the issue of whether death is proper when extensive evidence in mitigation balances against meager findings in aggravation. Appellant asserts that it is not.

Point II The trial court erred in admitting into evidence at the penalty phase, a photograph of the victim of a previous crime committed by Appellant. Although the state is permitted to present some details of the prior violent felony conviction, in the instant case the admission of the photograph was irrelevant and highly prejudicial. Its admission compromised the integrity of the jury's recommendation. A new penalty phase is required.

Point III The trial court committed reversible error by refusing to instruct the jury during the penalty phase on correct statements of the law as requested by defense counsel. These requested instructions were accurate statements of the law and were particularly applicable to the facts of the instant case.

POINT I

APPELLANT'S DEATH SENTENCE IS ~~III:-~~ PROPORTIONATE, EXCESSIVE, AND ~~I~~ INAPPROPRIATE, AND IS CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT IN VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 1, SECTION 17 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION, AND THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

In imposing the death penalty, Judge Dawson found that the State had proved one aggravating circumstance that Appellant had previously been convicted of another felony involving the use or threat of violence to a person. Section 921.141(5)(b), Florida Statutes (1991). This aggravating circumstance was based on Appellant's previous conviction for second degree murder in 1969 and his contemporaneous conviction for aggravated assault in 1991. (R 1342) In mitigation, the trial court considered fifteen separate factors, although six of these factors were given little or no weight by the trial court. (R 1342-1344) Appellant contends that the death penalty cannot stand since it is disproportionate to the crime and constitutes cruel and unusual punishment.

The death penalty is so different from other punishments "in its absolute renunciation of all that is embodied in our concept of humanity," Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238, 306 (1972) (Stewart, J., concurring), that "the Legislature has chosen to reserve its application to only the most aggravated and unmitigated of most serious crimes." State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 2, 17 (Fla. 1973), cert. denied sub nom., 416 U.S. 943 (1974).

See also Coker v. Georgia, 433 U.S. 584 (1977) (the requirement that the death penalty be reserved for the most aggravated crimes is a fundamental axiom of Eighth Amendment jurisprudence). This Court, unlike individual trial courts, reviews "each sentence of death issued in this state," Fitzpatrick v. State, 527 So.2d 809, 811 (Fla. 1988), to "[g]uarantee that the reasons present in one case will reach a similar result to that reached under similar circumstances in another case," Dixon, 283 So.2d at 10, and to determine whether all of the circumstances of the case at hand "warrant the imposition of our harshest penalty." Fitzpatrick, 527 So.2d at 812. Appellant's case is neither "most aggravated" nor "unmitigated." Indeed, it is the least aggravated and one of the most mitigated of death sentences ever to reach this Court. The "high degree of certainty in . . . substantive proportionality [which] must be maintained in order to insure that the death penalty is administered evenhandedly," Fitzpatrick, 527 So.2d at 811, is missing in this case, and the death penalty is plainly inappropriate on this record.

First, this case is not "most aggravated." No aggravating circumstance relating to intent, or indeed, to any aspect of the offense was found by the sentencer, only that Appellant had a prior conviction for a violent felony. "[T]he aggravating circumstance of heinous, atrocious and cruel, and cold, calculated and premeditated are conspicuously absent."

Fitzpatrick, 527 So.2d at 812.¹ This Court has never affirmed a death sentence when the only aggravating circumstance present was the prior conviction of a felony involving violence.²

Second, this is not "the sort of 'unmitigated' case contemplated by this Court in Dixon." Fitzpatrick, 527 So.2d at 812. Two statutory and thirteen nonstatutory mitigating circumstances were found by the sentencing judge, and were supported by abundant testimony.³ The two statutory mitigating circumstances alone rendered the death sentence disproportionate. The sentencer found the statutory mitigating circumstances of extreme emotional or mental disturbance, and substantively impaired capacity to conform conduct.

Without question, this case is not a proper one for capital punishment. It cannot fairly be compared with other cases reversed by this Court, because, as noted, none has ever

¹ These are Florida's most serious aggravating circumstances, and truly define "the most aggravated, the most indefensible of crimes." Dixon, 283 So.2d at 8. Heinous, atrocious, or cruel, as an aggravating circumstance, intuitively, and in fact, plays a substantial role in the affirmance of Florida death sentences. Mello, Florida's "Heinous, Atrocious or Cruel" Aggravating Circumstance: Narrowing the Class of Death-Eligible Cases Without Making It Smaller," 13 Stetson L.Rev.523 (1984). Eighty-two percent of death sentences in Florida involved a finding of heinous, atrocious, or cruel, and sixty-eight percent involve cold calculated and premeditated. Radelet, Rejecting the Jury: The Imposition of the Death Penalty in Florida, 18 U.C. Davis L.Rev. 1409, 1418 (1985).

² The aggravating circumstance of prior violent felony conviction does exist in cases affirmed by this Court, but always in addition to other sustained aggravating circumstances.

³ Of the thirteen non-statutory mitigating circumstances, the trial judge found that six of these factors should be given little or no weight.

been this mitigated and nonaggravated. A look at reversal on proportionality grounds does, however, reveal that since more aggravated and less mitigated cases than Appellant's are not proper for the ultimate penalty, surely Mr. Duncan must be spared.

In Fitzpatrick v. State, 527 So.2d 809 (Fla. 1988, this Court accepted the sentencing judge's findings of five statutory aggravating circumstances, including those that showed culpable intent (pecuniary gain/arrest avoidance). Mr. Fitzpatrick had been convicted of the murder of a law enforcement officer. Mr. Fitzpatrick shot the officer while holding three persons hostage with a pistol in an office; Mr. Duncan was not engaged in the commission of a felony at the time of the offense. Mr. Fitzpatrick had been previously convicted of violent felonies, as has Mr. Duncan. Mr. Fitzpatrick established the existence of three statutory mitigating circumstances -- extreme mental or emotional distress, substantially impaired capacity to conform conduct, and age. Id. at 811, Mr. Duncan established two of these. Mr. Fitzpatrick's crime was significantly more aggravated than Mr. Duncan's, yet this Court found Mr. Fitzpatrick's actions to be "not those of a cold-blooded, heartless killer," since "the mitigation in this case is substantial." Id. at 812.

Moving from five down to two statutory aggravating circumstances, this Court has not hesitated to reverse on proportionality grounds, in circumstances less mitigated than Mr.

Duncan's. For example, in Livingston v. State, 565 So.2d 1288 (Fla. 1988), the defendant killed a store attendant, shooting her twice with a pistol during the commission of an armed robbery. This Court found that two aggravating circumstances (prior violent felony/felony murder), when compared to two mitigating circumstances (age/unfortunate home life), "does not warrant the death penalty." Id at 188.⁴ In comparison, Mr. Duncan's case involved one aggravating circumstance, and fifteen mitigating circumstances. In Proffitt v. State, 510 So.2d 896 (Fla. 1987), the two aggravating circumstances of cold, calculated and premeditated, and felony/murder, were insufficient to call for the death penalty, when Mr. Proffitt had had a nonviolent history, and was happily married, a good worker, and a responsible employee.⁵ Finally, in Huckaby v. State, 343 So.2d 29 (Fla. 1977), this Court affirmed two especially powerful aggravating circumstances (heinous, atrocious or cruel, and great risk of harm to many persons), but held that the two statutory mitigating factors (which were also found here) rendered death improper (extreme mental or emotional disturbance/substantive impairment).

⁴ Of special importance to the Court in mitigation in Livingston and in many of the following cases is the offender's addiction to and/or intoxication from drugs, or alcohol. This overriding factor is also present in Appellant's case.

⁵ "The record also reflects that Mr. Proffitt had been drinking." Proffitt, 510 So.2d at 98. Mr. Proffitt was given life on appeal despite the proper finding of a cold, calculated, and premeditated, killing. Proffitt, 510 So.2d at 893 (Ehrlich, J., concurring specially in result only).

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