IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MAY 26 1992 CLERK, SUPREME COURT. By______ Chief Deputy Clerk

DONN A. DUNCAN,

٩,

Appellant,

v.

s * Etc.

CASE NO. 78,630

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE/ INITIAL BRIEF OF CROSS APPELLANT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KELLIE A. NIELAN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FL. BAR. #618550 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE/CROSS APPELLANT

SID J. WHITE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The state adds the following fact:

After stabbing Debbie Bauer, Duncan said, "I hope you die bitch" and "I did it on purpose"; after committing his prior murder, Duncan said "I hope he dies, I meant to kill him" (R 540, 896-97).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

<u>POINT 1</u>: The death sentence is proportionate. Duncan previously murdered another person and committed an aggravated assault in the course of the instant crime, and contrary to Duncan's allegations, as is demonstrated in the state's cross appeal, the mitigation is far from compelling. This court has affirmed the death sentence where only one aggravating factor was present, and has affirmed the death sentence under express proportionality review where the defendant has been convicted of a prior similar violent offense.

<u>POINT 2</u>: The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting a photograph during the penalty phase. Duncan's propensity to commit violent crimes was a valid consideration for the jury and it was relevant and proper for the jury to see the force and extent of that violence. Error, if any, was harmless. <u>POINT 3</u>: The jury was properly instructed at the penalty phase. This court has consistently held that the standard jury instructions are sufficient to apprise the jury of the applicable law.

<u>POINT 1 ON CROSS APPEAL</u>: The trial court abused its discretion in finding that Duncan was under the influence of alcohol at the

- 1 -

time of the murder, was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the murder, and that Duncan's ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was impaired. The trial court cited to no evidence or facts in support of these factors, and specifically found that all of the witnesses testified that Duncan appeared sober. There is no evidence, much less a reasonable quantum of competent proof to support the finding of these factors. As such, they should not be considered in reviewing Duncan's sentence.

N , 1 T

ARGUMENT

POINT 1

THE DEATH SENTENCE IS PROPORTIONATE.

Appellant is a good man, except that sometimes he kills people.

Fead v. State, 512 So.2d 176, 180 (Fla. 1987) (Grimes, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part).

Duncan contends that the death penalty is disproportionate to his crime and constitutes cruel and unusual punishment. Duncan argues that this court has never affirmed a death sentence that has been imposed by a trial judge based on the aggravating factor prior violent felony, and when "compelling mitigating" such as that in the instant case exists, the death penalty is simply inappropriate. The fact that the death sentence may not previously have been imposed in Florida when prior violent felony is the only aggravating factor does not mean that this court is precluded from upholding such sentence. Duncan previously murdered another person and committed an aggravated assault in the course of the instant crime, and contrary to Duncan's allegations, the mitigation is far from compelling. *See*, Cross Appeal.

s , s – ³ e

Death may be the appropriate penalty if at least one statutory appravating factor is established. Dougan v. State, 595 So.2d 1 (Fla. **1992).** As Duncan recognizes, this court has affirmed death sentences where only one aggravating circumstance has been found. Although all but one¹ of the cases cited by Duncan involve the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating factor, this does not mean that a death sentence cannot be upheld where the single aggravating factor is prior violent felony conviction, particularly where one of those convictions is for This court has affirmed the death sentence under express murder. proportionality review where the defendant has been convicted of a prior "similar violent offense". Lemon v. State, 456 So.2d 885, 888 (Fla. 1984) (death sentence "is not comparatively disproportionate" for stabbing death of girlfriend where defendant had prior conviction for assault with intent to commit first degree murder for stabbing another female victim); King v. State, 436 So.2d 50, 55 (Fla. 1983) (death penalty affirmed as comparable where defendant had prior manslaughter conviction for axe-slaying of woman victim). See also, Harvard v. State, 414 So.2d Similarly, this court has affirmed a death **1032** (Fla. **1982).** sentence in cases where the only aggravator in addition to prior

- 3 -

In Armstrong v. State, **399** So.2d **953** (Fla. **1981)**, which involved a double murder, this court struck two aggravating factors and affirmed on the basis that the murders were committed during the course of a robbery and there was nothing in mitigation.

violent felony is during the course of a felony. See, Hamblen v.
State, 527 So.2d 800 (Fla. 1988); Rogers v. State, 511 So.2d 526 (Fla.
1987); Jackson v. State, 502 So.2d 409 (Fla. 1986).

• . . • • •

The cases where this court has affirmed the death sentence where only one aggravating factor was present also demonstrate that Duncan's sentence is proportionate. These cases involved the shooting of a friend, a crime of passion in a marital setting, a man shooting his former female companion's husband, and the rape and murder of a child. In Arango v. State, 411 So.2d 172 (Fla. 1982), the victim was beaten and shot in the head in The sole aggravating factor was heinous atrocious his bedroom. or cruel, and the mitigation was no prior criminal history. This court stated the death penalty does not contemplate a tabulation of aggravating and mitigating factors to arrive at a sum, but places upon the trial judge the task of weighing all of these factors. Gardner v. State, 313 So.2d 676 (Fla. 1975), an override case, involved a "crime of passion in a marital setting in which the excessive use of alcohol was a material factor resulting in the homicide." Id. at 679 (Ervin, J., dissenting). The sole aggravating factor was heinous, atrocious or cruel, and the trial court found no mitigation, but as the dissent noted, mitigation existed. Justice Ervin stated that in his opinion, a "drunken spree" does not warrant the death penalty, but if there had been a calculated design and premeditation to rid one of his spouse, death would be warranted. In Douglas v. State, 328 So,2d 18 (Fla. 1976), another override case, this court affirmed the death sentence solely on the basis of one aggravating factor (heinous,

- 4 -

atrocious or cruel), where the victim was the husband of the defendant's former companion. In *LeDuc v. State*, 365 So.2d 149 (Fla. 1978), the defendant raped and murdered a young girl, and while a substantial amount of mental mitigation was proffered, the death sentence was affirmed on the basis of one aggravating factor and nothing in mitigation.

.

Duncan claims that "heinous, atrocious or cruel" and "cold, and premeditated" are Florida's most calculated serious aggravating factors, and that it would be fundamentally affirm when the only extant incongruous to aggravating circumstances does not reflect an additional bad part of the actual killing, but instead reflects a condition or status of the defendant (IB 16, n. 6). The fact that Duncan previously murdered another person certainly reflects more than his "status" or "a condition", and is entitled to great weight. This court has stated that the purpose of considering aggravating and mitigating circumstances is to engage in a character analysis of the defendant, Elledge v. State, 346 So.2d 998 (Fla. 1977), and the fact that a defendant has previously committed a murder does not weigh heavily towards good character. See, e.g., Demps v. State, 395 So,2d 501 (Fla. 1981) (nothing prohibits trial judge from taking into consideration the quality of aggravating circumstances, and defendant had "loathsome distinction" of having previously been convicted of murder and attempted murder). Appellee submits that when the prior violent felony is a prior murder, this the most serious and weightiest aggravating factor.

- 5 -

In this respect, appellee would point out that one of the reasons death is a unique punishment is its total rejection of the possibility of rehabilitation of the convict as a basic purpose of the criminal justice system. State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973); Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238 (1972). Duncan murdered one person in prison and another person outside of prison, which certainly indicates his own rejection of rehabilitation. In addition, there was nothing proffered in mitigation to lessen the weight of this factor, such as a causal relationship or extensive brain damage. See, e.g., Fitzpatrick v. State, 527 So,2d 809 (Fla. 1988); Huckaby v. State, 343 So,2d 29 (Fla. 1977).

. .

a gran tang

Likewise, there was nothing proffered in mitigation to outweigh this aggravating factor. As Duncan notes, this court, in reversing on proportionality grounds, has placed heavy emphasis on mitigation due to the offender's addiction to and/or intoxication from drugs or alcohol. *See, Livingston v. State*, 565 So.2d 1288 (Fla. 1988); *Proffitt v. State*, 510 So.2d 896 (Fla. 1987). However, contrary to Duncan's assertions, this "overriding factor" is *not* present in the instant case, despite some confusing language in the sentencing order which might indicate differently. In its discussion of mitigating factors, the trial court stated:

> Circumstances in mitigation that the Defendants (sic) ability to conform his conduct to the law was substantially impaired at the time of the crime, that he was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the killing and that the

> > - 6 -

defendant was under the influence of alcohol at the time of the killing, are based on testimony from the guilt phase of the trial. The Court has reviewed and weighed this testimony and circumstances.

3 . · · ·

(R 1343). However, in its factual findings the trial court stated:

All witnesses testified that the defendant appeared sober and that no one observed him drink any alcoholic beverages the night before.

(R 1341). The record is completely in accordance with the trial court's factual findings, and there is no evidence whatsoever to provide a reasonable basis that Duncan was under the influence of alcohol when he murdered Debbie Bauer. *See*, Cross Appeal.

Likewise, there was no evidence that Duncan was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the killing or that his ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired. Duncan presented no expert psychiatric or psychological testimony, nor did he testify as to his state of mind at the time of the killing. Appellee contends that in the absence of any testimony that Duncan has brain damage resulting in an extremely delicate psyche or some mental disturbance, this is not a sufficient basis for these two statutory mental mitigating factors. *See*, Cross Appeal.

The remaining mitigating evidence simply does not render the death sentence disproportionate in this case. Duncan's childhood and upbringing, which the trial court weighed in mitigation, was just not that bad, and is not entitled to much

- 7 -

There was no evidence of either physical or sexual weight. Compare Livingston v. State, 565 So.2d 1288 (Fla. 1988) abuse. (childhood marked by severe beatings resulting in minimal intellectual functioning). The next five factors proffered by $Duncan^2$ were properly found to carry little or no weight. The fact that Duncan was a good, dependable, and capable employee is likewise entitled to little weight, as it does nothing to extenuate or reduce his moral culpability for this murder. See, Rogers v. State, 511 So.2d 526 (Fla. 1987) (fact that defendant intelligent and articulate would not be used in mitigation inasmuch as such qualities established only that defendant was capable of understanding criminality of conduct and did not reduce moral culpability). Further, this factor is generally found in terms of demonstrating potential for rehabilitation, Holsworth v. State, 522 So.2d 348 (Fla. 1988), and the fact that Duncan had already murdered somebody while in prison seriously detracts from this. Duncan also asserted that he was a good listener and supportive friend, which may have been true unless one was engaged to him or "pushed him too far". This factor is at odds with this type of crime. Duncan also asserts in mitigation that he successfully completed his parole. While technically this may be true, the fact that Duncan later committed another murder certainly indicates that he was not successful in terms of the purposes of parole. Duncan also

- 8 -

² Killing was not for financial gain; killing did not create a great risk of death to many persons; killing did not occur while he was committing another crime; victim was not a stranger; victim is not a child.

asserts in mitigation that the killing came as a result of and subsequent to a domestic dispute. Appellee would point out that there was no evidence that this killing occurred during a heated confrontation, and even if Duncan was angry or "inflamed" over what had occurred the evening before, there was plenty of time for him to cool off and become a "good listener and supportive friend" instead of a second time murderer. The fact that the victim was engaged to Duncan was properly given little or no weight by the trial court.

The cases relied upon by Duncan for reversal on proportionality grounds are readily distinguishable. In Fitzpatrick, supra, the record was replete with evidence of substantially impaired capacity, extreme emotional disturbance, and low emotional age. The defendant had an emotional age between nine and twelve years, had extensive brain damage, had been described as "crazy as a loon", and his actions were those of a "seriously disturbed man-child" Id. at 810-11. None of those factors are present in the instant case. In Livingston, supra, this court found that the mitigating factors of severe childhood youth, inexperience, and beatings; immaturity; minimal intellectual functioning as a result of the beatings; and extensive use of cocaine and marijuana, outweighed the remaining aggravating factors of prior violent felony and during the course of a robbery. In Proffitt v. State, 510 So.2d 896 (Fla. 1987), this court specifically noted that not only was there no prior violent felony aggravator, but the defendant's lack of significant criminal history was mitigating. The court also stated that

- 9 -

affirming the sentence in that case would mean that every murder committed during the course of a burglary would require the death penalty. In addition, as with all of the other cases relied upon by Duncan, there was evidence that the defendant had been drinking, which as was demonstrated, is not a factor in the instant case. Similarly, in Penn v. State, 574 So.2d 1079 (Fla. 1991), the defendant had no significant history of prior criminal activity, and was also acting under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance. In Songer v. State, 544 So.2d 1010 (Fla. 1989), the defendant's reasoning abilities were substantially impaired by addiction to hard drugs, his remorse was genuine, and he had exhibited a positive change while in prison. There was no evidence that Duncan's reasoning abilities were impaired, he stabbed the victim on purpose and hoped she would die, and while previously in prison he had murdered someone.

. . . , т. , т.

As stated, the procedure to be followed by the jury and judge is not a mere counting process of aggravating and mitigating circumstances, but rather a reasoned judgment as to what factual situations require the imposition of death and which can be satisfied by life imprisonment in light of the totality of the circumstances presented. *Dixon, supra* at 10. On review of a death sentence, this court's role is not to cast aside careful deliberation which the matter of sentence has already received by the jury and trial judge, unless there has been a material departure by either of them from their proper prescribed functions, or unless it appears that, in view of other decisions

- 10 -

concerning imposition of the death penalty, punishment is too Hargrave v. State, 366 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1978). The jury great. weighed the aggravating factor against the proffered mitigation unanimously recommended the death penalty, and and that recommendation is entitled to great weight. Grossman v. State, 525 So.2d 833 (Fla. **1988).** The trial court likewise weighed the and determined, in accordance with the evidence, jury's recommendation, that death was the appropriate penalty. Death is not too great a punishment in this case. As the trial court judge in Fead, supra, stated, "If the death penalty is not for one who repeatedly commits murder...then for whom can it be said that it is reserved?" Id. at 180.

· · · · ·

POINT 2

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING A PHOTOGRAPH DURING THE PENALTY PHASE.

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